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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. Low-income Minnesota residents who receive medical services through Minnesota’s Medicaid program, Medical Assistance (MA), bring this suit to challenge the Commissioner of Human Services’ implementation of co-payment policies which deny medical care to plaintiffs.  Defendant’s co-payment policies have led medical service providers to require persons eligible for Medical Assistance who are financially unable to afford a co-payment to pay co-payments before they can receive prescription medications or other medical care.  These policies violate the federal Medicaid Act’s guarantee that a recipient will not be denied medical care or services because of an inability to pay a co-payment.

2. Defendant failed to provide Medicaid-eligible persons correct notices about their right to prescriptions and other medical services when they cannot afford a co-payment.  Defendant failed to provide this notice both at the inception of the new policies in October 2003, and each time a person has been denied drugs or medical services.  This lack of notice violates the Medicaid Act requirements and Minnesota law.

3. Defendant’s policies are causing harm to plaintiffs, many of whom have severe mental and physical disabilities.  Because they cannot afford the co-payments, plaintiffs are delaying and foregoing medicines and other medical care critical to their health with the consequence that they suffer needlessly.  Many have to choose between paying co-payments or buying food and other necessities.

4. Plaintiffs ask the Court to enjoin Minnesota’s law which allows providers to deny medicines and other services to eligible persons who have an unpaid co-payment; to require defendant to notify eligible persons that if they cannot afford a co-payment, they can still receive medical services and medicines; and to order defendant to reimburse unlawfully collected co-payments and to erase existing debts incurred as a result of the defendant’s unlawful policies.

JURISDICTION
5. This Court has jurisdiction under the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, in that defendant is violating plaintiffs’ rights under federal law.

6. Plaintiffs also bring this action pursuant to Article I, Section 8 of the Minnesota Constitution.

PARTIES

7. Plaintiff Jeffery Dahl is a 41 year-old resident of Stearns County, Minnesota, and receives Medical Assistance through the Minnesota Department of Human Services.

8. Plaintiff Sandy Jackson is a 48 year-old resident of Hennepin County, Minnesota, and receives Medical Assistance through the Minnesota Department of Human Services.

9. Plaintiff Janice Lantz is a 42 year-old resident of Dakota County, Minnesota, and receives Medical Assistance through the Minnesota Department of Human Services.

10. Plaintiff Rose Roe is a 41 year-old resident of Hennepin County, Minnesota, and receives Medical Assistance through the Minnesota Department of Human Services.

11. Plaintiff Lurrell Moore is a 43 year-old resident of Hennepin County, Minnesota, and receives Medical Assistance through the Minnesota Department of Human Services.

12. Plaintiff, Terry W. Hudgens is a 49-year-old resident of Ramsey County, Minnesota, and receives Medical Assistance through the Minnesota Department of Human Services.

13. Plaintiff, the Minnesota Psychiatric Society, is a non-profit professional association whose members are psychiatrists, residents, and medical students studying psychiatry.  The Psychiatric Society advocates for accessible, affordable mental health services and the removal of barriers to effective treatment including barriers to easy access to necessary pharmaceuticals.

14. Plaintiff, the National Alliance for the Mentally Ill of Minnesota (NAMI-MN), is a non-profit membership organization serving Minnesotans who are affected by mental illness.  NAMI-MN advocates for programs which support people with mental illness to live in the community.  NAMI-MN has 2,300 members across the state.

15. Defendant, Kevin Goodno, is the Commissioner of the Minnesota Department of Human Services (DHS), and pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 256.01 is generally responsible for the administration and implementation of the Medical Assistance program.  These duties include the responsibility to administer the Medicaid program in Minnesota consistent with the Social Security Act, including the Medicaid Act.  He is sued in his official capacity.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS
16. The individual plaintiffs bring this action pursuant to Rules 23.01 and 23.02(b) of the Minnesota Rules of Civil Procedure.

17. The class of persons whom the plaintiffs seek to represent is defined as follows:  

All adults who reside in Minnesota:

(a) Who have been or will be denied medical care or services under the Medical Assistance program because of an inability to pay the co-payment required under Minn. Stat. §256B.0631; or

(b) Who have been or will be charged a Medical Assistance co-payment without adequate notices.

18. Based upon information and belief, the class of persons whom the plaintiffs seek to represent is so numerous that joining all members is impracticable.  The exact size of the class is unknown but includes tens of thousands of persons residing in Minnesota.  The class members are geographically dispersed, have limited financial resources, and are unlikely to institute individual actions.

19. Questions of law or fact common to the plaintiffs and members of the class dominate.  These include whether defendant’s implementation of the co-payment requirement under Minnesota’s Medical Assistance program violates the federal Medicaid Act and regulations.

20. The claims of the named plaintiffs are typical of the claims of all members of the class.

21. The named plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.

22. Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive and declaratory relief for the class as a whole.  

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

23. Medicaid is a joint federal-state program that provides comprehensive medical services to certain groups of low-income people.  42 U.S.C. (( 1396-1396v.  The purpose of Medicaid is to enable each state, as far as practicable, (to furnish . . .medical assistance on behalf of families with dependent children and of aged, blind, or disabled individuals, whose income and resources are insufficient to meet the costs of necessary medical services . . . .(  42 U.S.C. ( 1396.

24. States do not have to participate in the Medicaid program.  The federal Medicaid Act specifies the requirements for states that do choose to participate.

42 U.S.C. ( 1396a et seq.  If a state does participate, it must comply with all provisions of the Medicaid Act and implementing regulations, except insofar as individual requirements for states may be waived by the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) pursuant to the limited authority granted by Congress.

25. Minnesota has chosen to participate in the federal Medicaid program.  In the 2005 federal fiscal year, the federal contribution is 50 percent of the total funds expended on behalf of Minnesota MA recipients and Minnesota pays 50 percent.  68 Fed. Reg. 67,676 (Dec. 3, 2003).

26. Minnesota has designated DHS as the single state agency that will administer and supervise the state’s Medicaid program as required by the Medicaid Act.  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(5); 42 C.F.R. § 431.10; Minn. Stat. § 256B.04,  subd. 1.

Medicaid’s Strict Limits on Cost Sharing
27. The Medicaid Act permits states to impose cost sharing on program beneficiaries only under strict limitations.  42 U.S.C. ( 1396o.  Co-payments are a type of cost sharing permissible under the Act.

28. The Medicaid Act provides, “The State plan shall require that no provider participating under the State plan may deny care or services to an individual eligible for such care or services under the plan on account of such individual’s inability to pay a deduction, cost sharing, or similar charge.”  42 U.S.C. ( 1396o(e).  The statute does not permit a state to operate its Medicaid program in non-conformity with Section 1396o(e) through either a waiver or state plan amendment.

29. The Medicaid regulations also require that no provider may deny services to a person receiving Medical Assistance because that person cannot pay a current or past co-payment.  42 C.F.R. ( 447.15; 42 C.F.R. ( 447.53(e).  

30. Since Minnesota has opted to participate in the Medicaid program, its state plan must comply with Section 1396o(e).  42 C.F.R. § 447.15.

31. Medicaid regulations concerning inability to pay require that a state plan must specify  “[t]he basis for determining whether an individual is unable to pay the charge and the means by which such an individual will be identified to providers.”

42 C.F.R. § 447.53(d)(4).

Federal Requirements On Notices

32. Federal law specifies when Medicaid notices must be given to eligible persons and the minimum requirements for those notices.

33. The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution prohibits the state from terminating an eligible person’s health services without first providing adequate notice and an opportunity for an adequate hearing.

U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

34. The Medicaid Act requires the state Medicaid agency to “provide for granting an opportunity for a fair hearing before the state agency to any individual whose claim for medical assistance under the plan is denied or is not acted upon with reasonable promptness. . . .”  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(3).

35. Medicaid regulations require written notice of a recipient’s right to a hearing as follows:

(c)  The agency must provide the information required in paragraph (b) of this section–-

(1)  At the time that the individual applies for Medicaid;



(2)  At the time of any action affecting his or her claim; . . . .

42 C.F.R. § 431.206(c).

36. The Medicaid regulations require the written notice to contain:

(a) A statement of what action the State . . . intends to take;

(b) The reasons for the intended action;

(c) The specific regulations that support, or the change in Federal or State law that requires, the actions;

(d) An explanation of–

(1) The individual’s right to request an evidentiary hearing if one is available, or a State agency hearing; or

(2) An explanation of the circumstances under which Medicaid is continued if a hearing is requested.

42 C.F.R. § 431.210.


37.
Medicaid regulations require that Managed Care Organizations (MCO) under contract with a state’s Medicaid agency provide a notice in writing to enrollees when they deny, terminate or reduce services.  42 C.F.R. § 438.404(a).


38.
The notice must contain and explain the following:


(1) The action the MCO . . . or its contractor has taken or intends to take.

   
 
(2) The reasons for the action.

    

(3) The enrollee's or the provider's right to file an . . . appeal.

(4) If the State does not require the enrollee to exhaust the MCO . . . appeal procedures, the enrollee's right to request a State fair hearing.
    

(5) The procedures for exercising the rights specified in this paragraph.

(6) The circumstances under which expedited resolution is available and how to request it.

(7) The enrollee's right to have benefits continues pending resolution of the appeal, how to request that benefits be continued, and the circumstances under which the enrollee may be required to pay the costs of these services.

42 C.F.R. § 438.404(b). 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

39. In Minnesota, the Medical Assistance program provides comprehensive health coverage for low-income children and families, people with disabilities, and senior citizens.  Minn. Stat. § 256B et seq.   
40. Prior to the 2003 legislative session, Minnesota law did not require co-payments for prescription drugs, doctor or hospital visits, or eyeglasses.
41. In 2003, the Minnesota legislature amended the Minnesota Medical Assistance program authorizing co-payments for most adults receiving MA of $3 per non-preventive doctor visit; $3 for eyeglasses; and $6 for non-emergency visits to a hospital-based emergency room.  Drug prescription co-payments are $3 per brand-name drug prescription and $1 per generic drug prescription, subject to a $20 per month maximum.  Minn. Stat. ( 256B.0631 subd. 1(a). 
42. Although the amendments require that persons unable to pay co-payments not be denied medical care or services, the legislature added the following provision:  “If it is the routine business practice of a provider to refuse such service to an individual with uncollected debt, the provider may include uncollected co-payments under this section.  A provider must give advance notice to a recipient with uncollected debt before services can be denied.”  Minn. Stat. ( 256B.0631, subd. 4.  
43. DHS projected that the Medical Assistance co-payments would save the state approximately $14 million in fiscal year 2004.  DHS Legislative Summary, 6/26/03, p. 7.
44. Minnesota’s state plan filed with DHHS specifies that “the method for determining whether a recipient is unable to pay is the recipient’s assertion that he or she is unable to pay the co-payment.”  TN-03-34, Attachment 4.18-C, page 2.
45. On September 17, 2003, DHS issued instructions to medical providers which stated that providers could not deny care or services to people on Medical Assistance who were unable to pay their co-payments, “unless it is the routine business practice of a provider to refuse services to individuals with uncollected debt.”  The instructions also state that providers must give advance notice to recipients before service can be denied.  DHS Provider Update #162, p. 7.  (Attached hereto as Exhibit 1). 
46. Providers are not instructed, however, to notify recipients of the reasons the Medical Assistance recipient is subject to the co-payment or how the co-payments were calculated which would allow the recipient to know whether the co-payment was correctly applied to him or her.
47. The September instructions do not provide any instruction to providers on how they should determine a Medical Assistance recipient’s inability to pay.
48. In September 2003, the defendant announced that DHS was sending a written co-payment notice to Medical Assistance recipients which stated that co-payments now apply to people on Medical Assistance.  The notice stated that providers can deny services to people who are unable to pay past due co-payments if the provider routinely refuses service to people with unpaid bills.  The notice further stated that providers must tell the recipients in advance if they will no longer serve them.  DHS Bulletin #03-21-08, Attachment A.  (Attached hereto as Exhibit 2).

49. The DHS notice to Medical Assistance recipients did not instruct them on how to claim an inability to pay a co-payment.

50. DHS does not provide health care services but enters into contracts with Managed Care Organizations and medical providers certified to participate in the Medicaid program to deliver services to Medical Assistance recipients.  Minn. Stat. §§, 256B.031, 256B.035, 256B.04, 256B.69.
51. As the single state agency charged with administering the Minnesota Medical Assistance program, DHS is ultimately responsible for providing the required statutory notices when it or any of its contractors denies, terminates or reduces a recipient’s Medical Assistance services or benefits under the fee-for-service or managed care delivery system.  42 C.F.R. § 431.205; Minn. Stat. § 256.045, subd. 3.
Fee-for-service
52. Fee-for-service is a method of payment for health services where DHS pays a specific amount for each type of health service provided a Medical Assistance recipient by a medical provider.  Minn. R. 9505.5210, subp. 6.
53. A vendor who seeks to participate in the state Medical Assistance program on a fee-for-service basis must apply to DHS.  The vendor must sign both an Enrollment Application and a Provider Agreement.  Once the vendor receives DHS’s approval to participate in the program, the Provider Agreement defines the vendor’s relationship with DHS.  Minn. R. 9505.0195, subp. 2, 4.
54. The Provider Agreement requires a vendor who becomes a Medical Assistance provider to follow federal and state Medicaid laws regarding the administration of services to Medical Assistance recipients.  (Exhibit 4, Provider Agreement, Paragraph C.)
55. Minnesota Rules require that a recipient be given written notice each time the recipient is denied services under the Medical Assistance program.  Minn. R. 9505.0125, subp.1.  The Rule provides, “The notice must clearly state the proposed action, the reason for the action, the person’s right to appeal the proposed action, and the person’s right to reapply for eligibility. . . ”  Id.
Managed Care Organizations (Prepaid Health Plans)

56. A Managed Care Organization (MCO) is an entity that seeks to qualify under 42 C.F.R. Part 438 for a comprehensive risk contract under federal Medicaid requirements.
57. A Prepaid Health Plan (PHP) is a vendor who receives a capitation payment and assumes financial risk for the provision of Medical Assistance services under a contract with the Commissioner.  Minn. Stat. § 256B.02, subd. 13.
58. A PHP can qualify as an MCO when it meets the requirements of 42 C.F.R. Part 438.
59. To provide health care services under the state Medical Assistance program, a PHP (MCO) must contract with DHS and become a certified provider. 

60. This contract requires each MCO (PHP) to give notice to a Medical Assistance recipient when a provider denies, terminates, or reduces a health care service. (Exhibit 5, Model Managed Care Contract, Section 8.2.)
61. Minnesota law requires that any PHP (MCO) under contract to the Commissioner of DHS notify a recipient of the right to file a complaint or appeal when it denies, terminates, or reduces a health service.  Minn. Stat. § 256.045, subd. 3a; Minn. Stat. § 256B.69, subd. 11.  

62. The named individual plaintiffs and class members are the intended third-party beneficiaries of the contract between DHS and each MCO (PHP), as well as any MCO (PHP) subcontractor for the delivery of Medical Assistance covered services. (Model Managed Care Contract Section 8.9.)
DHS Instructions to Providers
63. On January 15, 2004, DHS for the first time instructed providers that they “must accept a recipient’s assertion that he or she is unable to pay a co-payment and cannot require additional documentation of inability to pay.”  MHCP Provider Update CPY-04-01.  (Attached hereto as Exhibit 3).
64. On January 15, 2004, DHS instructed providers, (An unpaid co-payment is considered to be unpaid debt, and the provider is not required to continue to serve recipients with unpaid debt.”  Id.
65. The notice again instructs participating health care providers that prior to denying services because of an unpaid co-payment the provider must give the recipient “advance notice and a reasonable opportunity for payment before denying the next service/visit.”  Id.  

66. Under both federal and state law, DHS is required to insure that Medical Assistance recipients receive adequate notice whenever their MA benefits are either terminated, reduced or denied.  Defendant has neither sent adequate notice when recipients have been denied services nor has he required the provider to send adequate notice.

67. Defendant as the recipient of federal Medicaid funds is both responsible for providing the legally required notices and for insuring that the providers as agents/contractors of DHS provide correct notice.

68. While the providers have been told that they must accept a recipient’s assertion that he or she is unable to pay a co-payment and cannot require additional documentation of inability to pay.  DHS provided neither the counties nor the recipients this information.  DHS Bulletin #03-21-08, Attachment A (Exhibit 2).

69. On information and belief, providers are denying care and services to MA recipients who are unable to pay co-payments without telling them that when a person is unable to pay, the person can get services, and without providing any notice of appeal rights as required by federal and state law.  

70. These co-payments are precluding and will continue to preclude plaintiffs and members of the class from seeking and/or receiving the medical treatment and services they need.  These co-payments are causing and will continue to cause plaintiffs and members of the class not to seek and/or receive medical treatment and services in a timely manner.

Plaintiff Jeffrey Dahl
71. Plaintiff Jeffrey Dahl is a 41-year-old man living in a group home in Stearns County, Minnesota.  He currently receives Medical Assistance from DHS and has for the last 23 years.  Mr. Dahl’s only source of income is his Social Security benefit of $695 per month.

72. Mr. Dahl receives Medical Assistance services from enrolled providers on a fee-for-service basis.

73. Mr. Dahl is a quadriplegic who suffers from a congenital disease called Anterior Horn Cell Disease or Spinal Muscle Atrophy.  This is a progressive disease in which he increasingly loses muscle function.  Mr. Dahl also suffers from depression.

74. Mr. Dahl held several jobs after graduating from St. Cloud State University in 1986, with a degree in creative writing and literature.  He was a chess coach at a local high school from 1989-1990.  He was an editor for Minnesota Sheriff’s Magazine from 1989-2000.  He worked at Toys ‘R’ Us from 1995-1998.  He was forced to leave each of these jobs as his physical condition deteriorated to the point he could no longer perform his job tasks.  

75. Mr. Dahl has been confined to a wheelchair since he was fourteen years old.  He woke up one morning in 1997 to discover that overnight he had lost the use of his arms.  He is currently losing his ability to swallow.  

76. Mr. Dahl takes the following medications daily:  Neurotin, liquid Morphine, Avinza and prescription strength Tylenol for pain; Claritin to control allergies; Protonix for acid reflux; Fosomax to strengthen his bones; Buspar/Buspironed HCL for anxiety; Lasix/Furosemide to control fluid retention; Provigil and Methylin to counter the side effects of his other medications and to keep him alert; and Zoloft for depression.

77. Since October 1, 2003, Mr. Dahl has been charged a co-payment on each of his prescription medications.  He is charged $1 for each generic medication and $3 for each non-generic medication.  Each month his prescription co-payments reach the $20 maximum.

78. Mr. Dahl is required to pay $601 of his $695 Social Security benefit each month for his board and care at the group home.  The remainder of the cost is paid by the state’s Group Residential Housing program and through a Medical Assistance Community Alternatives for Disabled Individuals (CADI) waiver.  Mr. Dahl is only allowed to keep a $94 personal needs allowance each month.  With his personal needs allowance, he must buy all of his clothing and personal hygiene items.  He must also use this money to buy any food not provided by the group home; buy stationery supplies such as paper, envelopes and stamps; and buy food for his two cats.  Mr. Dahl’s cats are therapeutic and necessary as they are his only friends and his sole source of affection.  His monthly expenses generally total $92.  This does not leave him with any funds with which to pay his prescription drug co-payments.

79. Mr. Dahl has past-due co-payment charges at two pharmacies, Village Pharmacy and Coborn’s Long Term Care Pharmacy.  Coborn’s refused to fill Mr. Dahl’s prescriptions in July 2004, because of his unpaid co-payments.  Coborn’s told him that it was the pharmacy’s policy to stop providing services to people who have outstanding debts, including Medical Assistance recipients who do not have enough money to pay the co-payments.

80. Mr. Dahl did not receive any notice informing him of his right to appeal the denial of his prescription medication.

81. Although Mr. Dahl lives in St. Cloud which has several pharmacies, he must get his medication from a pharmacy that will deliver because of his lack of mobility.  When Coborn’s refused to serve him until he paid his outstanding co-payment charges, Mr. Dahl called every pharmacy in the St. Cloud phone book.  Hapeth Prescription Shop was the only pharmacy he found that would deliver his medications without extra charges.

82. Hapeth Prescription Shop agreed to fill Mr. Dahl’s prescriptions only if he gave it permission to take the co-payments directly from his bank account.  Out of desperation he initially agreed.  Mr. Dahl has since revoked his permission to take the co-payments from his bank account.  Hapeth has said that it may not continue to fill his prescriptions.

Plaintiff Sandy Jackson
83. Plaintiff Sandy Jackson is a 48-year-old woman living with her daughter, Karla, in Hennepin County, Minnesota.  She currently receives Medical Assistance from DHS and has for the last several years.  Ms. Jackson receives Supplemental Security Income benefits of $564 per month and Minnesota Family Investment Program benefits of $125 per month.  Her total income is $689 per month.  Ms. Jackson was informed by her pharmacist and doctors in October 2003, that she would be required to pay co-payments for her prescription drugs.  
84. Ms. Jackson is enrolled in Medica, an MCO (PHP) under contract with DHS.
85. Ms. Jackson’s current medical conditions include major recurrent depression, anxiety disorder, high blood pressure, menstrual hemorrhaging, sleeplessness, asthma, various allergies, chronic low back pain with degenerative disc disease, and severe migraines.  She is currently on the following 15 prescription medications:  Xanax for anxiety; Paxil for depression; Norvasc and Prinzide to control blood pressure; Triphasal for menstrual hemorrhaging; Valtrex for cold sores; Ambien to aid sleeping; Singulair, Zyrtec, Topicort, Desoximetasone and a Proventil inhaler for various allergies and asthma; Tylenol 3 and Flexeril for back pain; and Fiorinal for migraines.  In addition, she visits her doctors at least twice a month for consultation and monitoring.
86. Ms. Jackson pays $3 per non-generic prescription drug and $1 per generic prescription drug up to a maximum of $20 per month.  She also pays at least $6 co-payments for doctors’ visits.
87. Ms. Jackson has monthly expenses which exceed her income of $689.  Her expenses are generally $745 per month for housing, utilities, food (not covered by food stamps), transportation, the family pet ($8) and personal needs items.  She does not have sufficient income to pay the $20 prescription drug co-payments and the $6 office visit co-payment. 
88. Ms. Jackson has gone without her medication and could not consult with her doctors in the past because she has not been able to pay the co-payment.  
89. In October 2003 and every month since, Ms. Jackson was told by her pharmacy that she could not get her medications until she paid $20 in co-payments.  She was not provided a written notice of the denial.
90. When Ms. Jackson telephones for an appointment with her general practitioner, dermatologist, or obstetrician and gynecologist, the office staff tell her that in order to have an appointment, she must pay the $3 co-payment and any outstanding co-payments.
91. In late October 2003, Ms. Jackson began to suffer what she later learned to be a reaction to one of the prescription drugs she was taking.  Because she did not have money to pay her past due co-payments, she could not call to see Dr. Thomasson, her primary care physician, to determine the source of the reaction.  In early March 2004, she broke out in “brown masking” on her arms, neck, and chest, had stomach pain, and became extremely weak and fatigued.  At that point, she borrowed money to pay for her past due co-payments so that she could see Dr. Thomasson.  
Plaintiff Janice Lantz
92. Plaintiff Janice Lantz is a 42-year-old woman living with her husband, Robert, in Dakota County, Minnesota.  She currently receives Medical Assistance from DHS and has for the last several years.  Ms. Lantz receives Social Security Disability benefits of $478 per month, after her Medicare premium of $66.60 is deducted.  Mr. Lantz also receives Social Security Disability benefits.  He receives $1,341 per month, after his Medicare premium is deducted.  Their disability benefits are the couple’s only source of income.  

93. Ms. Lantz receives Medical Assistance services through enrolled providers on a fee-for-service basis.

94. Ms. Lantz’s current medical conditions include depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder, anxiety disorder, passive-aggressive personality disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, chronic headaches, irritable bowel syndrome, acid reflux and chronic bronchitis.  She is currently on the following 15 prescription medications:  Paxil for depression; Seroquel for obsessive-compulsive disorder; Valium to control anxiety; Aderall for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder; Ambien to aid in sleeping; Zyprexa to stimulate appetite; Metodopramide to control nausea; Topamax and Maxalt for migraines; Zelnorm for her stomach; Protonix to reduce acid reflux; Zertec and Hydroxizen for allergies; Albuterol to control wheezing; and Aduar for breathing difficulties resulting from her chronic bronchitis disease.

95. Since October 1, 2003, Ms. Lantz has been required to pay co-payments on her prescription medication.  She pays $3 per brand name prescription drug and $1 per generic prescription drug up to a maximum of $20 per month for prescription drugs.  Ms. Lantz reaches the $20 maximum each time she fills her prescriptions.

96. Ms. Lantz and her husband have monthly expenses which exceed their combined income.  Their expenses for rent, utilities, transportation, food and personal need items are $1,830 per month while their income is only $1,819.  Ms. Lantz does not have sufficient income to pay the $20 prescription drug co-payments.

97. Ms. Lantz has gone without her medication or has taken some of her husband’s medications in the past because she has not been able to pay the co-payment.  Her pharmacy has also denied her medications when she has been unable to pay the co-payment at the time of purchase.

98. Ms. Lantz was unable to fill her prescriptions in either March or May 2004, because she did not have enough money to pay the co-payments.  When she does not take her mental health medication, her anxiety and depression get worse.  She cannot sleep.  She has feelings of hopelessness and cries much of the time.  She gets irritable.  In May 2004, Ms. Lantz was forced to go to the Anoka Crisis Center, Anoka County’s emergency psychiatric facility.  When she does not take the medication for her stomach and headaches, Ms. Lantz suffers a lot of pain and has no choice but to go to the hospital emergency room to get relief from the pain.

99. In July 2004, the Burnsville Walgreens told Ms. Lantz that she could not get her medications until she paid $20 in co-payments.  The pharmacy did not provide a written notice of the denial.

Plaintiff Rose Roe

100. Plaintiff Roe lives in Hennepin County, Minnesota, and receives Medical Assistance.  Ms. Roe has two teen-age children, a boy age 17 and a girl age 15.  She also is raising her two grandchildren, two girls ages seven and five.  Until about one year ago, Ms. Roe worked as a Certified Nurse Assistant and a Certified Medication Assistant.  She is now unemployed.
101. Ms. Roe is enrolled in Medica, an MCO (PHP) under contract with DHS.
102. Ms. Roe receives $668 each month from the Minnesota Family Investment Program, (MFIP).  She does not own a car.  Ms. Roe has applied for Supplemental Security Income but does not have a decision.  Ms. Roe’s monthly expenses average at least $675 per month.  In addition she owes $100 per month for an overdue phone bill.
103. Ms. Roe has bipolar disorder and suffers cycles of mania and depression.  She has two deteriorated discs, one in her neck and one in the middle of her back.  She suffers from fibromyalgia which causes her great pain.  She currently is on the following drugs: Wellbutrin  and Depakote for her bi-polar disorder; Amitrityline, an anti-depressant; Norflex, Ultram and prescription strength Naproxin for pain; Ammonium Lactate and Clindamycin Phosphate for her skin; and Prevacid, Metamusil and Gas-X for digestive problems.  The co-payments are $3 each for brand name drugs and $1 each for generic drugs. 
104. In February or March 2004, when Ms. Roe needed to have a prescription filled, she went to Walgreens on Nicollet Mall in Minneapolis.  Walgreens told her that she could not get the drugs unless she paid the co-payment.  No one told her that if she were unable to pay, she could get the drugs without a co-payment.  So despite her lack of income to cover basic living expenses, Ms. Roe paid $3 in co-payments for one of the drugs and $1 for another.  
105. In May or June 2004, Ms. Roe went to North Drugs across from North Memorial Hospital in Minneapolis to fill a prescription for Diflucan for a bacterial infection.  North Drugs would not give her those drugs unless she paid the co-payment.  She asked a friend to pay the $3 co-payment.
106. Ms. Roe’s psychiatrist has prescribed Wellbutrin and Depakote to control her depression.  Earlier this year, she had a prescription for Wellbutrin of 150 milligrams a day.  The psychiatrist increased that to 200 milligrams, two times a day.  Ms. Roe did not get the prescription for the increased dosage filled, because she could not afford the co-payments.  She stretched the medicine out by not taking even the 150 mg. every day.  Without the correct dosage of Wellbutrin, Ms. Roe is irritable, has problems with her memory and concentration, and cannot sleep.  Because she did not have the correct amount of medication in June, she had to go to the Crisis Center, Hennepin County’s emergency psychiatric facility.
107. Ms. Roe has also had experiences about co-payments with several doctors’ offices.  In April when she went to an appointment to see her dermatologist, his office staff said he would not see her in the future if she did not pay a co-payment for that day.  The dermatologist took a growth off of her leg.  When the place where the doctor had taken off the growth turned black, Ms. Roe called and asked for some medicine.  When she went to get the samples that the doctor wanted to provide, his office staff asked for the previous co-payment just to get the samples.  She did not have an appointment and did not see the doctor that day.  She persuaded the office staff to give her the samples without a co-payment.  She has received several bills from the dermatologist’s office about the $3 co-payment.  Because of the hassle, she has found a different dermatologist.
108. When Ms. Roe calls the Medica Bloomington and Lake Clinic in Minneapolis to make an appointment for her back problems and the fibromyalgia, the office staff tell her she will have to pay any back balance of co-payments when she comes for the appointment.  Ms. Roe saw a sign posted in that clinic that says people will be billed an extra $5 if they do not pay the co-payment.  Ms. Roe was able to make an appointment at the clinic by telling them that she would pay the co-payment when she arrived.  After she checked in, they sent her to the desk to pay the co-payment, and she avoided that desk.  She was able to see the doctor, but she has avoided seeing that doctor recently because she keeps being billed for the co-payments.
109. When Ms. Roe went to the North Suburban Eye Clinic in mid-May to get a new prescription for her glasses, the clinic asked for a $3 co-payment.  She told them she was unable to pay the co-payment.  She is now receiving bills for the $3 co-payment.  When she went to select her glasses and said she could not pay the co-payment, they told her she had to pay.  She paid that co-payment because she needed the new eyeglass prescription. 

110. Ms. Roe received a general notice from DHS about co-payments before they began in October 2003.  No pharmacist nor doctor has notified or told Ms. Roe that if she is unable to pay a co-payment, she can still receive services and prescriptions.  Nor has anyone notified her of appeal rights when she has been denied services or medicines without a co-payment.  She learned of those rights only from Legal Aid on July 20, 2004.   Legal Aid gave her a card which had her rights on it.  When she presented the card to pharmacists on July 20 and 22, each hesitated to provide the drugs without first receiving a co-payment, but each finally gave her the drugs without the co-payment.  Fairview Pharmacy said on July 20 that it would bill Ms. Roe.

Plaintiff Lurrell Moore

111. Plaintiff Lurrell Moore lives in Minneapolis.  She currently receives Medical Assistance from DHS and has for about one year.  Ms. Moore’s only source of income is $695 per month in Social Security disability from RSDI.

112. Ms. Moore has been determined by the Social Security Administration to be permanently and totally disabled.  She suffers from major depression.  She has received RSDI for approximately one year.

113. Prior to becoming disabled, she worked eight years as a cook.  Beginning in the 1980’s, she did housecleaning for 10 to 12 years.

114. Ms. Moore has a prescription to take Mirtazapine daily.  She is very dependent on the drug to maintain her mental health so that she can participate in her activities of daily living.  When she does not have the medicine, she becomes irritated and angry.  She closes in on herself, withdraws from others, and shuts herself up in her house.  She described her depression as feeling like she “wants to go and disappear.”

115. In late July 2004 and into August, Ms. Moore did not have the dollar for her co-payment and went without the medicine for three weeks.  Without the medicine, she suffered depression, became withdrawn and was afraid to leave her home.

116. On August 16, Ms. Moore telephoned NAMI, the Minnesota chapter of the National Alliance for the Mentally Ill.  She spoke with Sue Abderholden who referred her to plaintiffs’ counsel, Abigail Turner.  Ms. Turner sent Ms. Moore a yellow card to present to the pharmacist stating that she was unable to pay the co-payment.

117. Ms. Moore took the card to Walgreen’s at 3207 Lake St. in Minneapolis, showed the pharmacist her card and was able to get her prescription filled.

118. Until she contacted NAMI, no one told her that if she were unable to pay her co-payment, she should tell the pharmacist and she should get the medicine without paying the co-payment.

119. Ms. Moore’s expenses exceed her income.  Her monthly expenses are as follows:  rent, $495; electricity including lights and air-conditioning, $100-$110; phone, $66; nonfood items not covered by food stamps, $30-$40; laundry, $10-$20; and clothing and shoes, $15-$25.  Occasionally she eats out at a cost of approximately $5 or goes to the movie for $7.

120. Ms. Moore cannot read well and has a representative payee to pay her bills.

121. The absence of money for her co-payment created a substantial barrier to Ms. Moore’s obtaining the drugs critical to controlling her depression.  The absence of money for her co-payment caused Ms. Moore to suffer needlessly.

122. Before becoming very depressed in August, she was going to Goodwill/Easter Seals for job training and to gain skills to work.  Being without a co-payment and unable to get her medicine for several weeks interrupted her work program at Goodwill/Easter Seals.  She lost valuable time and opportunities and had to begin the program anew.

123. After she started taking her medicine again and got stabilized on her medication in late August, she was able to leave her home.  She participates in the Easter Seals work program three days per week, seven hours per day until December 30.  The staff at Easter Seals was very supportive and reminded her to take her medicine.  Goodwill/Easter Seals is trying to help her find a permanent job so she can be out in the city, interacting with people in the community and not isolated in her apartment.

Plaintiff Terry W. Hudgens

124. Plaintiff Terry W. Hudgens is 49-year-old man who lives in St. Paul.  Mr. Hudgens’ income is from Social Security Disability of $556 per month and Minnesota Supplemental Aid of $81 per month for a total of $647 per month. 

125. Mr. Hudgens had a 26-year career in radio broadcasting prior to college at St. Louis College of Health and an internship in cardio-vascular technology. 

126. Mr. Hudgens has Alport Syndrome which was diagnosed in early 1974.  This disease has caused serious physical impairments including loss of kidney function, hearing loss and vision loss.  He had his first kidney transplant in 1975 at Vanderbilt Hospital in Nashville, Tennessee. 

127. Following that transplant, Mr. Hudgens was able to go to school and also to work.  He worked as a cardio-vascular technologist at the Peninsula Regional Hospital in Salisbury, Maryland in 1996.  He worked for Health East in St. Paul in its transportation division from March 30, 1996, until November 18, 1999, and although he applied for numerous jobs at Health East in his field of training, he was never hired. 

128. Mr. Hudgens began to suffer kidney problems again in 1998 and was on kidney dialysis from April 1998, until April 2001, when he received a kidney transplant at the Mayo Clinic.  He became disabled and began receiving Social Security Disability in early 2000. 

129. Mr. Hudgens takes the following 18 prescription medications:  Prednazone, Tacrolimus and Imuran, which are immuno-suppressants; Lopressor, Loniten and Norvasc for hypertension; prescription aspirin for pain relief; Rocalitrol to maintain his phosphorous level; Bactrin, which is an antibiotic; a multi-vitamin; Cyclogyl eye drops; Patanol, an ophthalmic solution; and Magnesium Oxide for magnesium blood levels; Loratadine for allergies; Beconase for sinus; Vicoden for chronic pain; Docusate, a laxative; and Prozac for depression. 
130.  Mr. Hudgens’ immuno-suppressants are covered 100 percent by Medicare for three years following the transplant.
131. From October 1, 2003, until late summer 2004, Mr. Hudgens regularly went to Borgstrom Pharmacy on Payne Avenue in St. Paul for his drugs, other than the immuno- suppressants related to his kidney transplant.  The pharmacist at Borgstrom’s made it very clear to Mr. Hudgens that he could not get the drugs unless he paid the co-payments.  When he told the pharmacists that he did not have money for co-payments, the pharmacists said that he should come back when he had the money. 

132. Mr. Hudgens then moved several prescriptions to the Walgreen Drug Store on Wabasha in St. Paul.  The Walgreen Drug Store would not provide him the drugs without a co-payment.  When he told the pharmacists he did not have the money, they told him to come back when he had the money.  He could only obtain the drugs if he presented a credit card to cover the co-payment.  

133. In late September or early October 2004, Mr. Hudgens moved the prescriptions away from the Walgreen Drug Store to the Mayo Clinic Pharmacy.  The Mayo Pharmacy sends the drugs to him by Federal Express.  

134. To obtain drugs from Borgstrom’s and the Walgreen Drug Store, he had to provide a credit card when he did not have any cash on hand.  The credit card is now at its maximum.  

135. Mr. Hudgens’ monthly expenses exceed his monthly income of $647.  Mr. Hudgens’ rent is $495 a month; electricity averages $71 or $72 per month; and his cell phone bill is $74 per month.  He has no land-line phone.  His laundry expenses are $30 to $35 per month, and he has gasoline expenses for his car of about $40 to $60 per month.  

136. Mr. Hudgens’ Food Stamps of approximately $63 per month are insufficient to provide adequate food beyond the middle of the month.  With no resources to purchase food, he lives off of cans of Ensure, a liquid food supplement which is covered by Medical Assistance.  

137. Because of the number of drugs Mr. Hudgens takes, his co-payments exceed the $20 maximum for drugs each month.  

138. Mr. Hudgens pays $15 to $20 per month on his outstanding credit card debt.  He filed bankruptcy about two years ago and has been working to restore his credit.  He got three credit cards, and these are what he used to pay his co-pays.  He is currently over his credit limit on all three.  On one he has a $300 limit and he owes about $450; on a second he has a $300 limit and owes $307; and on a third he has $1,000 limit and owes $1,200.  The latter credit card was the one he used to pay $1,100 for front-end repairs on his car after it was damaged by a towing company last winter.  

139. Although the Mayo Pharmacy has told Mr. Hudgens that it will not terminate his ability to obtain his medicines because Mayo wants to assure the continued functioning of the transplanted kidney, he continues to incur debt for the co-pays.  This means that he cannot buy other necessities and has purchased almost no clothing since he stopped working.  His shortage of funds has been very difficult for him because he does not have money to give his daughter a gift and is very concerned about being able to scrape together money for a gift for his goddaughter when she graduates from high school in 2005.  

140. In September 2004, Mr. Hudgens hocked his wedding ring for a 90-day pawn loan that comes due on December 15, 2004.  

Plaintiff National Alliance for the Mentally Ill of Minnesota
141. The National Alliance for the Mentally Ill of Minnesota (NAMI-MN) champions justice, dignity, and respect for all people affected by mental illness (biological brain disorders).  Through education, advocacy, and support, NAMI-MN seeks to eliminate the pervasive stigma of mental illness, affect positive changes in the mental health system, and increase the public and professional understanding of mental illness.

142. A group seeking funding from Minnesota’s legislature for community mental health treatment for persons who were discharged from the state hospital organized NAMI-MN in 1977.  Since then NAMI-MN has developed education programs, recovery programs, support groups and anti-stigma campaigns.  NAMI-MN is the Minnesota affiliate of the National Alliance for the Mentally Ill.  The Minnesota affiliate has twenty-one local affiliates statewide. 

143. When the Medical Assistance co-payments went into effect in October 2004, NAMI-MN’s low-income members began to suffer.  Hundreds of the members began to call NAMI-MN’s toll free phone line about their concerns about being unable to afford the co-payments and their fears that they would be denied medications and doctor’s appointments when they could not afford the co-payments.  They described how paying co-payments had forced them to choose not to buy food at the end of the month.  Others began taking their medications every other day or simply stopped taking their medicines.  Persons taking anti-psychotic medications or in nursing homes were statutorily exempt from co-payments, but they called NAMI-MN for help because providers were charging them with co-payments.  NAMI-MN staff intervened directly with DHS to address the members’ issues.  

144. Two of NAMI-MN’s current programs are significantly impacted by the imposition of co-payments for Medical Assistance recipients.  First, the Family and Consumer Phone Advocacy program provides a toll-free phone line to answer questions, provide information, and to trouble-shoot problems for persons who need assistance, support, and guidance in navigating the challenges created by the presence of a major mental illness in their lives.  The volume of phone requests for information and help shot up when the co-payments were implemented in the fall of 2003.  

145. Scarce staff resources were diverted to talking with members facing co-payments who described how medical providers charged co-payments to persons exempt under the federal and state statutes.  To address this error in the state’s implementation, NAMI-MN staff had to divert their time designated for preparing for its state conference, program development and fundraising to intervene with DHS to remedy these statewide errors.  NAMI-MN also used scarce and expensive newsletter space in the fall of 2003, to explain the intricacies of the co-payments to its members and others.

146. The second program area impacted by the imposition of co-payments was NAMI-MN’s legislative advocacy.  NAMI-MN works to ensure that policy makers understand the needs of people with mental illness and how proposed policies will affect them.  NAMI-MN also monitors public policies that affect people with mental illness and their families in order to preserve services, especially access to medications and treatment.  In the fall of 2003, NAMI-MN gathered information from its members on how the budget cuts impacted them.  More than 50 persons reported that co-payments harmed them.  For example, several had to choose between buying food and paying co-payments for doctor’s visits; one who had co-payments of $30-60 per month stopped taking drugs for major depression.  NAMI-MN also received calls from providers, who are also members of NAMI-MN.  Nurses told of paying the co-payments out of their own pockets.  Programs that provide emergency funds for housing, car repairs, and similar crises are now using those funds to help their clients pay their co-payments.

147. In the 2004 legislature, NAMI-MN also had to divert its legislative advocacy resources from such issues as mental health parity under Minnesota Care to building support for removing the co-payments or narrowing their impact on persons with mental illness.  NAMI-MN’s director compiled dozens of stories from the phone lines and testified before the Senate Family Security Committee about how the co-payments caused incredible stress to people living with serious depression, bipolar disorder and other mental illnesses.

Plaintiff Minnesota Psychiatric Society

148. The Minnesota Psychiatric Society is a professional association of over 450 psychiatrists and medical students.  The organization is a district branch of the American Psychiatric Association.

149. The mission of the Minnesota Psychiatric Society includes promoting accessible high quality mental health care devoid of stigma and discriminatory practices for patients and their families.
150. The Psychiatric Society engages in advocacy in the Minnesota legislature and the U.S. Congress to ensure that persons in Minnesota with mental illness do not face barriers to access to needed psychiatric services because of governmental funding and regulatory constraints.
151. A number of the member psychiatrists have patients who are on Medical Assistance.  Thus, the Society’s Minnesota legislative agenda includes advocacy to ensure that persons with mental illness who are Medical Assistance recipients can expeditiously obtain needed counseling, treatment and medicines.  When the 2003 legislature was considering imposing co-payments on doctor’s visits and medicines, the Psychiatric Society joined with a coalition of other mental health advocates and actively opposed imposition of co-payments.
152. Although some mental health drugs are excluded from co-payments, the Society’s members see their patients struggling to pay the co-payments on other medicines to stabilize their mental health and control the side-effects of psychotropic drugs.  Consequently, some psychiatric patients go without prescribed medicines altogether or take medicines in reduced doses because they do not have the money for the co-payments.
153. The co-payments on doctor’s visits have resulted in an additional financial barrier for the members’ patients.
154. In the 2004 legislative session, the Society’s legislative agenda included efforts to repeal the co-payments.  As an alternative, the Society advocated for additions to the mental health drugs exempt from co-payments and, specifically, to exempt drugs to offset side effects of psychotropic drugs and to expand exemptions for other mental health treatment drugs.  The Society’s lobbyist reported its unsuccessful efforts to the membership:  “The failure of the legislature to pass a supplemental budget bill dealt a blow to the MSP’s efforts to restore some of the mental health treatment cuts made last year. . .These included. . . eliminating co-payments for office visits and prescription medications.”  Summer 2004 newsletter.
155. The Society employs a paid lobbyist and its Executive Director coordinates public education with community advocates.  Legislative advocacy on behalf of psychiatric patients and their families is a primary activity of the Society.  Every year the Society develops a legislative agenda.  In 2004, the Society’s efforts to repeal cuts to state sponsored psychiatric programs diverted lobbying resources from this agenda.
156. A major tenet of the Society’s legislative lobbying and advocacy with the Department of Human Services is that when persons with mental illness have early and effective access to their doctors and to medicines, their mental health is maintained.  This avoids hospitalization, improves treatment outcomes and quality of life as it conserves scarce public health resources.
157. The Society also advocates for federal parity legislation so that health insurance coverage for mental health needs will be as readily accessible as services for physical health needs.  In this regard, the Society advocates for federal Medicaid parity legislation, Medicaid reform, and increased federal funding for Minnesota’s Medicaid programs.
158. Recognizing that significant numbers of psychiatrists’ patients stop their medication after a few months, the organization specifically advocates for removal of all barriers to patients obtaining and using medications as prescribed since adequate medications are critical elements to maintaining mental health stability for persons suffering from psychiatric illnesses.
159. In September 2003, the Psychiatric Society presented testimony before the Minnesota Medical Association about the crises psychiatrists’ patients are facing due to increased barriers to mental health care in Minnesota including the recently passed Medical Assistance co-payments.
160. Defendant monitors drug expenses under the Medical Assistance program and is aware that many recipients suffer from severe physical and mental disabilities.  Defendant knew or should have known that the availability of prescription drugs is what maintains many recipients fragile mental and physical health.
161. Defendant knew or should have known that the lack of clear notice to vulnerable recipients of Medical Assistance about how to assert that they could not afford a co-payment and, under those circumstances could not be denied medical services, would lead to eligible people being denied medical care.
162. The defendant(s policy of allowing providers to deny medicines and other medical services to persons who do not assert inability to pay or who have an overdue co-payment is causing needless pain and suffering for plaintiffs and class members.  Many have been forced to choose between buying food or paying the co-payments.  Others have suffered pain from taking fewer doses of their medicines than prescribed or foregoing their medicines for several days.
CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

MEDICAID ACT

163. Defendant’s policy of allowing medical service providers to deny medical services to persons who are unable to pay a co-payment and/or have unpaid co-payment debt violates 42 U.S.C. § 1396o(e) which is enforceable by plaintiffs in this Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

164. Minnesota’s co-payment law, Minn. Stat. § 256B.0631, which allows a provider to deny medical care or services to a person receiving Medical Assistance if that person has unpaid co-payment debt and if it is the normal practice of the provider to deny services for unpaid debt violates 42 U.S.C. § 1396o(e) and is preempted by the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution.

165. Plaintiffs are suffering or are in danger of suffering irreparable harm.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

MEDICAID REGULATIONS

166. Defendant’s policy of allowing medical service providers to deny medical services to persons who are unable to pay a co-payment and/or have unpaid co-payment debt violates the Medicaid regulations, 42 C.F.R. § 447.15 and 42 C.F.R. ( 447.53(e), which are enforceable by plaintiffs in this Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

167. Plaintiffs are suffering or are in danger of suffering irreparable harm.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FEDERAL NOTICE REQUIREMENTS

168. Defendant’s failure to ensure that persons in Minnesota eligible for Medical Assistance receive adequate written notice of their rights to medical services when they are unable to pay a co-payment as described in paragraphs 39 to 70, violates the Due Process Clause of the U.S. Constitution and the Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(3) which are enforceable by plaintiffs in this Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

169. Defendant’s failure to ensure that persons in Minnesota eligible for Medical Assistance receive adequate written notice of their rights to medical services when denied services by health care providers as described in paragraphs 39 to 70, violates the Due Process Clause of the U.S. Constitution and the Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(3) which are enforceable by plaintiffs in this Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

170. Defendant’s failure to ensure that persons in Minnesota eligible for Medical Assistance receive adequate written notice of their rights to medical services when they are unable to pay a co-payment as described in paragraphs 39 to 70, violates the federal Medicaid regulations 42 C.F.R. § 431.206 and 42 C.F.R. § 438.404, which are enforceable by plaintiffs in this Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

171. Defendant’s failure to ensure that persons in Minnesota eligible for Medical Assistance receive adequate written notice of their rights to medical services when denied services by a health care provider, as described in paragraphs 39 to 70, violates the federal regulations 42 C.F.R. § 431.206 and 42 C.F.R. § 438.404, which are enforceable by plaintiffs in this Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

172. Plaintiffs are suffering or are in danger of suffering irreparable harm.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

MINNESOTA NOTICE REQUIREMENTS

173. Defendant’s failure to ensure that recipients receive adequate written notice of their rights to medical services when they are unable to pay a co-payment violates the due process guarantees of  Minn. Const, art. I, § 7, the notice requirements of Minn. Stat. § 256.045, subd. 3, 3a; Minn. Stat. § 256B.69, subd. 11; and Minn. R. 9505.0125 Subp.1.

174. Defendant’s failure to ensure that recipients receive adequate written notice of their rights to medical services when denied services by a health care provider violates the due process guarantees of the Minn. Const. art. I, § 7, the notice requirements of Minn. Stat. § 256.045, subd. 3, 3a; Minn. Stat. § 256B.69, subd. 11; and Minn. R. 9505.0125, subp.1.

175. Defendant’s failure to ensure that health care providers give recipients adequate written notice of their rights to medical services when they are unable to pay a co-payment and/or when denied services violates DHS’s contract with such providers.  Plaintiffs, as the intended third party beneficiaries, assert their rights to require defendant to enforce the contract.

176. Plaintiffs are suffering or are in danger of suffering irreparable harm.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully request this Court to:

1.
Certify this case as a class action;

2.
Issue a declaratory judgment holding that:


A.
Minnesota’s co-payment law, Minn. Stat. § 256B.0631, Subd. 4, which allows medical providers to refuse service to individuals with unpaid co-payments violates 42 U.S.C. § 1396o(e);


B.
Defendant’s policy of allowing medical service providers to deny medical services to persons who are unable to pay a co-payment and/or have unpaid co-payment debt violates 42 U.S.C. § 1396o(e);

C. Defendant’s failure to provide adequate notice to Medical Assistance recipients of their rights to medical services when they are unable to pay a co-payment violates the Due Process Clause of the U.S. Constitution and the notice provisions of the federal Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(3);

D. Defendant’s failure to provide adequate notice to Medical Assistance recipients of their rights to medical services when denied services by a health care provider violates the Due Process Clause of the U.S. Constitution and the notice provisions of the federal Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(3);

E. Defendant’s failure to provide adequate notice to Medical Assistance recipients of their rights to medical services when they are unable to pay a co-payment violates the federal regulations 42 C.F.R. 


§ 431.206 and 42 C.F.R. § 438.404; 

F. Defendant’s failure to provide adequate notice to Medical Assistance recipients of their rights to medical services when denied services by a health care provider violates the federal regulations 42 C.F.R. 


§ 431.206 and 42 C.F.R. § 438.404;

G. Defendant’s failure to ensure that Medical Assistance recipients receive adequate written notice of their rights to medical services when they are unable to pay a co-payment violates the due process guarantees of the Minn. Const. art. I, § 7, the notice requirements of Minn. Stat. § 256.045, subd. 3, 3a; Minn. Stat. § 256B.69, subd. 1; and Minn. R. 9505.0125, subp., 1.

H. Defendant’s failure to ensure that Medical Assistance recipients receive adequate written notice of their rights to medical services when they are denied services by a health care provider violates the due process guarantees of the Minn. Const. art. I, § 7, the notice requirements of Minn. Stat. § 256.045, subd. 3, 3a; Minn. Stat. § 256B.69, subd. 11 and Minn. R. 9505.0125, subp., 1.

I. Defendant’s failure to ensure that health care providers give recipients adequate written notice of their rights to medical services when they are unable to pay a co-payment and/or when denied services violates DHS’s contract with such providers.

3.
Grant preliminary and permanent injunctions that:


A.   
Prohibit the defendant from permitting medical providers to deny medical care or services to individuals who have unpaid co-payments in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396o(e);


B.
Prohibit the defendant from imposing co-payments on Medical Assistance recipients without providing additional notice about how a recipient can claim inability to pay;


C.
Prohibit the defendant from failing to provide restitution of or to refund any co-payments levied against a class member prior to the recipient receiving adequate notice of the co-payment provisions of Minn. Stat. § 256B.0631;


D.
Prohibit the defendant from permitting a medical provider to deny medical care or services to a Medical Assistance recipient unless at the time of each adverse action the recipient receives adequate notice as required by the U.S. Constitution, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(3), 42 C.F.R. § 431.206, 42 C.F.R. § 438.404;  the Minn. Const. art I, § 7; Minn. Stat. § 256.045 subd. 3, 3a; Minn. Stat. § 256B.69, subd. 11; and Minn. R. 9505.0125, subp., 1.;



E.
Prohibit the defendant from permitting a provider to deny medical care or services to a Medical Assistance recipient unless the provider at the time of each adverse action gives adequate notice as required by the defendant’s contracts with such providers;


F.
Prohibit the defendant from failing to provide restitution or to eliminate any outstanding co-payment debts where class members eligible for Medical Assistance did not receive adequate notice of their rights; and


G.
Prohibit the defendant from failing to provide restitution of or reimbursement of all co-payments paid by class members since October 1, 2003.

4.
Award plaintiffs their reasonable attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S. § 1988.  

5.
Grant such other and further relief as this Court finds just and equitable.

Dated:  ____________________
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